Public Document Pack

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE
DATE:

Thursday, 18 November 2021

TIME:

5.30 pm

VENUE:

Council Chamber - Civic Centre, St Luke's Avenue, Harrogate HG1
2AE. This meeting will be livestreamed here:
https://bit.ly/HarrogateYouTube (Copy and paste the link in your
browser).

Notice is hereby given that the above meeting will take place for the purpose
following and, by virtue of Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972,
any other matter(s) which the Chair considers should be dealt with at the meeting
as a matter of urgency.
AGENDA
Item Title
1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF
SUBSTITUTES:

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST:
Members to advise of any declarations of interest.

3.

MINUTES:
of the meeting of the Committee held on 9 September 2021.

4.

EXEMPT INFORMATION:
To determine whether to exclude the press and public during the
consideration of any exempt information items.

5.

PUBLIC ARRANGEMENTS - QUESTIONS:
To consider any questions under Standing Order 27.

Page
Number

3-8

MATTERS TO BE REFERRED TO COUNCIL FOR
CONSIDERATION
6.

STATUTORY GUIDANCE ON SPECIAL SEVERANCE PAYMENTS:
The Head of Legal and Governance to submit a written report.

9 - 26

Legal and Governance | Harrogate Borough Council | PO Box 787 | Harrogate | HG1 9RW
01423 500600 www.harrogate.gov.uk

7.

DRAFT SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS - MAY 2022 TO MARCH 2023:
The Democratic Services Officer to submit a written report.

27 - 34

MEMBERSHIP: Councillor Matt Scott (Chair). Councillor John Ennis, Councillor
Philip Broadbank, Councillor Nick Brown, Councillor Ed Darling, Councillor Tim
Myatt, Councillor Pauline McHardy, Councillor Alex Raubitschek and Councillor
Norman Waller.
Members are reminded that in order to expedite business at the meeting and
enable Officers to adapt their presentations to address areas causing difficulty,
they are encouraged to contact Officers prior to the meeting with questions on
technical issues in reports.
Members of the public are entitled to attend this meeting as observers for all those
items taken in open session.
The agenda papers may be examined at the Civic Centre, Harrogate and a copy
may be purchased for £6.00.
Please contact Charles Casey - Democratic Services Officer, at the Civic Centre, if
you have any queries or need further information on this agenda - telephone or
email Tel: (01423) 500600 Email: democraticservices@harrogate.gov.uk
Members of the public or press are entitled to record (e.g. film, audio, tweet, blog)
this meeting. Any recording or reporting on this meeting should take place in
accordance with the Council’s protocol on recording and reporting of public
meetings. We request that any member of the public or press intending on
recording the meeting notify Democratic Services at the earliest opportunity so that
any reasonable adaptions can be made. Where we have received prior notification
of the intention to record a meeting the Chair will make an announcement at the
start of the meeting and give any direction needed.
EMERGENCY PROCEDURES FOR MEETINGS – FIRE: On hearing the fire
evacuation alarm, you should leave the building by the nearest safe fire exit. Once
outside the building, please assemble in the corner of the visitor car park at the
front of the building opposite the main entrance. Persons should not re-enter the
building until authorised to do so by the Fire and Rescue Service or the
Emergency Co-ordinator.

Legal and Governance | Harrogate Borough Council | PO Box 787 | Harrogate | HG1 9RW
01423 500600 www.harrogate.gov.uk

Agenda Item 3
GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE
HELD ON 9 SEPTEMBER 2021
(FROM 5.30 PM – 6.09 PM)
PRESENT: Councillor Matt Scott in the Chair. Councillors Nick Brown, Ed Darling,
John Ennis, Sue Lumby, Tim Myatt, Alex Raubitschek and Matthew Webber.
Late Arrivals:

None

Early Departures: None
16/21 – APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES:
Notification had been received that Councillor Matthew Webber was to act as
substitute for Councillor Phillip Broadbank and Councillor Sue Lumby was to act as
substitute for Councillor Norman Waller.
(5.30 pm)
17/21 – DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST: There were no declarations of interest
made at the meeting.
(5.30 pm)
18/21 – MINUTES: The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 15 July
2021 were approved as a correct record.
(Five Members voted for the motion and there were three abstentions.)
(5.31 pm)
19/21 – EXEMPT INFORMATION: There was no exempt information.
(5.32 pm)
20/21 – PUBLIC ARRANGMENTS - QUESTIONS: There were no public questions
to consider under Standing Order 27.
(5.32 pm)
MATTERS TO BE REFERRED TO COUNCIL
21/21 – OTLEY ROAD CYCLEWAY – STRAY BYELAW RESOLUTION: Further to
Minute 36/20 the Executive Officer – Economy and Transport (EO-ET) submitted a
written report the purpose of which was to inform the Committee that the Secretary
of State, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) had
granted provisional approval for the Council to make the proposed Stray Byelaws,
which were previously presented at the General Purposes Committee meeting held
on 28 January 2021. A formal resolution was sought for the Council to make the

Page 3

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE
Byelaws and the Committee were updated on the transfer of exchange land to the
Duchy of Lancaster.
The EO-ET explained that the amended Byelaws were required to enable the
development of phase two of the cycleway on Otley Road which had been
implemented by North Yorkshire County Council. As the proposed cycleway
intended to use existing verges and footpaths between Cold Bath Road and Beech
Grove which were designated as Stray land, cycling could not be permitted on this
land until unless the byelaws were amended. As a result of the approval of the
proposed Stray Byelaws the Council was notified by the government on 25 June
2021 that provisional approval had been given from the Secretary of State to the
Council to make the proposed byelaws.
The EO-ET referred to paragraph 5.4 of the report which concluded that once the
Byelaws were submitted to the Secretary of State for confirmation, the Stray Byelaws
would then come into being.
The EO-ET and the Acting Chief Solicitor (ACS) then responded to questions from
Members. The ACS advised that the government had recommended an update of
the Stray Byelaws to correspond with minor changes to the map attached to the
Byelaws relating to the Otley Road cycleway. The EO-ET confirmed that the Stray
Defence Association had responded to the consultation process and that all
consultation responses were considered at the Committee meeting on 28 January
2021.
RECOMMENDED:
That (1) the Stray Byelaws are formally adopted as attached in Appendix 2 in the
report;
(2) subject to ratification by full Council, the General Purposes Committee
agree that a notice is published in a local paper of intention to seek confirmation by
the Secretary of State (MHCLG), at least one month before the byelaws are sent for
confirmation; and
(3) the sealed Stray Byelaws are submitted to the Secretary of State
(MHCLG) for confirmation.
(Seven members voted for the motion and there was one abstention.)
(5.32 pm to 5.39 pm)
22/21 – REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA): The
Acting Chief Solicitor (ACS) submitted a written report which sought to inform the
Committee of the outcome of the recent Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office
(IPCO) inspection of the Council’s use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act
2000 (RIPA), a policy on the covert collection of information and to recommend
minor amendments to update the Council’s RIPA Policy. The report also informed

2

Page 4

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE
Members on the refresher training provided to enforcement and legal officers of the
Council provided by ACTNow Training.
The ACS explained although the Council does not exercise its RIPA powers and that
this is not expected to change, the Council had a statutory duty to comply with and
maintain the RIPA policy and to carry out training of officers within the Council. The
ACS reported that following the IPCO inspection on 14 April 2021, the IPCO
recommended the inclusion of two new sections in the Council’s RIPA policy as set
out in Appendix 1 of the report. The addition to the policy at section 4 related to the
use of the social media in the investigation, the other addition at section 5 was in
relation to the storage, retention and destruction of material obtained through the
RIPA powers. Lastly, the Members were informed that Council officers undertook
RIPA training in June which was provided by ACTNow Training.
In response to questions the ASC confirmed that the Council’s non-use of its RIPA
powers would continue as the Council did not use covert methods for investigating
offences and that RIPA was not a process likely to be used by the Council in the
future. In In response to a further question the ASC assured Members that if the
Council exercised its powers in accordance with the RIPA, those circumstances
would be reported back to the Committee.
It was proposed and seconded by Councillor Matthew Webber and Councillor Tim
Myatt that an additional recommendation be added that the Committee receive an
annual report of whether the RIPA powers had been enacted by the Council in the
year. Members voted unanimously for the amendment which was therefore carried.
RECOMMENDED:
That (1) the outcome of the IPCO inspection is noted;
(2) the proposed amendments to the Council’s RIPA policy are approved;
(3) the refresher training undertaken by enforcement and legal officers of the
Council is noted; and
(4) the General Purposes Committee receive an annual report of whether the
RIPA powers have been enacted by the Council in the year.
(Seven Members voted for the motion and there was one abstention)
(5.39 pm to 5.57 pm)
23/21 – DISPENSATIONS IN RESPECT OF REGISTERABLE INTERESTS: The
Head of Legal and Governance (HoLG) submitted a written report the purpose of
which was to recommend an amendment to the process for granting dispensations
following the Council’s adoption of the Local Government Association’s (LGA) Model
Code of Conduct with local amendments. The report sought permission to amend
the Constitution to include the same provisions for seeking and granting

3

Page 5

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE
dispensations in respect of other Registerable Interests as currently exists in respect
of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests.
The HoLG reminded Members of the defined category of interest known as other
Registerable Interests and that the position under the Code of Conduct was that if a
Member had an other Registrable Interest in relation to an item of business at a
meeting they must declare and disclose that interest. The Member could only speak
on the matter if members of the public were also allowed to speak but otherwise they
must not participate in the discussion or vote and they must not remain in the room
unless they had been granted a dispensation.
The HoLG advised that a mechanism was required for granting dispensations for
other Registrable Interests. As per paragraph 5.6 of the report it was proposed that
the constitution be amended to include an additional provision for the granting of
dispensations in respect of other Registerable Interests which mirrored the
provisions for granting dispensations for Disclosable Pecuniary Interests.
RECOMMENDED (UNANIMOUSLY):
That the Constitution be amended to include the same provisions for dispensations
to be granted in respect of other Registerable Interests as currently exists in respect
of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests.
(5.57 pm to 6.01 pm)
24/21 – HONORARY FREEMAN OF THE BOROUGH – JEAN MACQUARRIE: A
report in the name of the Chief Executive was submitted in which it was
recommended that the title of Honorary Freeman of the Borough be conferred on
Mrs Jean MacQuarrie, former Editor of the Harrogate Advertiser. Section 249(5) of
the Local Government Act 1972 enabled the Council to do so for people who had, in
the opinion of the Council, rendered eminent services to the District. Mrs MacQuarrie
had been approached and had confirmed that she wished to be considered for the
title.
The Democratic Services Manager explained that if the Committee agreed with the
proposal an extraordinary meeting of the Council would be convened in October, to
which Mrs MacQuarrie would be invited.
RECOMMENDED (UNANIMOUSLY):
That, in accordance with Section 249(5) of the Local Government Act 1972, an
extraordinary meeting of the Council be convened immediately prior to the next
scheduled meeting of the Council to be held on 6 October 2021 in order to confer the
title of Honorary Freeman of the Borough on Mrs Jean MacQuarrie.
(6.01 pm to 6.02 pm)

4

Page 6

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE
HELD ON 9 SEPTEMBER 2021
(FROM 5.30 PM – 6.09 PM)
PRESENT: Councillor Matt Scott in the Chair. Councillors Nick Brown, Ed Darling,
John Ennis, Sue Lumby, Tim Myatt, Alex Raubitschek and Matthew Webber.
Late Arrivals:

None

Early Departures: None

MATTERS DEALT WITH UNDER DELEGATED POWERS
25/21 – APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES: The Democratic Services Manager
(DSM) submitted a written report which requested that the Committee note the
appointments to committees and other bodies detailed at paragraph 2.0 of the report.
A re-calculation of proportionality following the Knaresborough Scriven Park byelection which took place in July was necessary resulting in the Liberal Democrats
becoming entitled to two more standing committee seats. Two further vacancies
required Conservative nominations as detailed at the recommendations below.
The DSM explained that the amendments had been put forward by group leaders
who agreed that one further seat on Planning Committee and one further seat on
Audit and Governance Committee be allocated to the Liberal Democrats, and the
Committee were requested to note the changes.
RESOLVED (UNANIMOUSLY):
That the Committee note the changes to committee memberships detailed below:
Planning Committee:
Add Councillor Hannah Gostlow (Lib Dem)
Remove Councillor Stuart Martin (Con)
Audit and Governance Committee:
Add Councillor Hannah Gostlow (Lib Dem)
Remove Councillor Michael Harrison (Con)
District Development Committee:
Councillor John Mann to fill the Conservative vacancy
Improvement and Involvement Steering Group:
Councillor Matt Scott to fill the Conservative vacancy
(6.02 pm – 6.03 pm)
(D)
5

Page 7

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE

26/21 – APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODY: The Democratic Services Manager
(DSM) submitted a written report which sought the appointment of a representative
to the Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust - Council of Governors. Two
nominations had been received, Conservative Group – Councillor Sue Lumby and
Liberal Democrat Group – Councillor Matthew Webber. Councillor Sue Lumby and
Councillor Matthew Webber both addressed the Committee before Members
proceeded to vote on the nomination.
The DSM then provided an update on the Oglethorpe and Dawson Education
Foundation and explained that members were requested to note that a
representative is no longer required and the Foundation will be removed from the list
of Outside Bodies.
RESOLVED:
That (1) Councillor Sue Lumby be appointed to the Harrogate and District NHS
Foundation Trust - Council of Governors; and
(Seven Members voted for Councillor Lumby and one voted for Councillor Webber)
(2) it is noted that a representative is no longer required for the Oglethorpe
and Dawson Educational Foundation.
(Unanimous)
(6.03 pm – 6:09 pm)
(D)

6

Page 8

Agenda Item 6

Agenda Item No.

REPORT TO:

Audit & Governance Committee
General Purposes Committee

DATE:

13 September 2021
18 November 2021

SERVICE AREA:

Legal & Governance

REPORTING OFFICER:

Head of Legal & Governance
(Jennifer Norton)

SUBJECT:

Statutory Guidance on Special Severance
Payments

WARD/S AFFECTED:

ALL DISTRICT

FORWARD PLAN REF:

N/A

1.0
1.1

PURPOSE OF REPORT
This report proposes that the New Best Value Statutory Guidance regarding
Special Severance Payments (consulted on by government between 2 July
and 13 August 2021) be adopted as the Council’s response to a
recommendation in the Audit Completion Report for the year ended 31
March 2021.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION/S
Audit & Governance Committee
To note the statutory guidance on the making and disclosure of Special
Severance Payments by local authorities at Appendix 1 and to receive a
verbal update on any outcome of the government consultation.

2.1

2.2

To agree that in accordance with the statutory guidance that a
recommendation be made to the General Purposes Committee for inclusion
of a delegation in the constitution to the Chief Executive Officer with the
approval of the Leader to authorise such payments following receipt of the
completed pro forma report at Appendix 2 and in consultation with those
officers listed at paragraph 4.18 of this report.

2.3

That the approval of full Council is required before any Special Severance
Payment in excess of £100,000 can be approved for staff leaving the
organisation.

Page 9

1

2.4

2.5

That all Special Severance Payments be reported annually to the Audit &
Governance committee on an anonymised basis as per paragraph 4.20 of
this report.
General Purposes Committee
That the Constitution be amended to give effect to recommendation 2.2

3.0
3.1

RECOMMENDED REASON/S FOR DECISION/S
To ensure that in the exceptional circumstances where it is decided that a
Special Severance Payment should be paid, that the Special Severance
Payments arrangements continue to be fair, proportionate, lawful and
provide value for money for the taxpayer and accord with the latest
government guidance.

4.0
4.1

THE REPORT
The Audit Completion Report for the year ended 31 March 2021
recommended that the Council should consider updating risk management
arrangements for settlement agreements. The Report noted that the Council
has appropriately disclosed exit packages in its revised statement of
accounts. The arrangements under the Constitution currently provide for
delegated approval by the Monitoring Officer for settlement agreements.
The Report encouraged members to consider updating their risk
management arrangements for employee settlement agreements to ensure
that, for each case, members also approve payments after satisfying
themselves that there is a clear rationale and payments comply with
legislation; costs are minimised; and available options have been
considered.

4.2

The Report recognised the management response being that the existing
process already recognised that there must be a clear rationale for
payments which complies with legislation; that costs should be minimised
and available options considered; and amounts properly authorised and
appropriately disclosed in the accounts. The Report also recognised that the
number of such cases had been small, that flexibility is sometimes needed
to deal with them in a timely manner, and the Council agreed that it would
review its processes in order to ensure member involvement in future
decisions.

4.3

Government has now produced guidance setting out its position on the use
of Special Severance Payments made by local authorities. It is proposed
that the statutory guidance be reviewed and implemented including any
amendments as a result of the consultation exercise over the summer.

4.4

4.5

What are Special Severance Payments?
The guidance explains that Special Severance Payments are payments
made to employees, officeholders, workers, contractors, and others outside
of statutory, contractual or other requirements when leaving employment in
public service. It also explains that employers may sometimes consider
making such a payment in situations where the individual concerned
resigns, is dismissed, or agrees a termination of contract.
The following do not constitute Special Severance Payments:
• Statutory redundancy payments;

Page 10

2

•
•
•
•
•

Contractual redundancy payments, whether applicable to voluntary or
compulsory redundancy, and whether agreed by collective
agreement or otherwise
Redundancy payments made in line with the requirements of the
Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary
Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006;
Payment for untaken annual leave;
Payments ordered by a court or tribunal or agreed as part of a judicial
or non-judicial mediation;
Payments made to compensate for ill-health, injury or death of the
worker.

4.6

The following types of payments are likely to constitute Special Severance
Payments:
• Any payments reached under a settlement agreement between the
employer and employee to discontinue legal proceedings without
admission of fault;
• The value of any employee benefits or allowances which are allowed
to continue beyond the employee’s agreed exit date;
• Write-offs of any outstanding loans;
• Any paid special leave, such as gardening leave;
• Any honorarium payments or gifts;
• Any hardship payments;
• Any payments to employees for retraining related to their termination
of employment.

4.7

The following types of payments may constitute Special Severance
Payments, depending on the terms of the individual’s contract, relevant
statutory provisions, any non-statutory applicable schemes and other
relevant terms and conditions:
• Pay or compensation in lieu of notice (depending on the contractual
basis for its payment);
• Pension strain payments arising from employer discretions to
enhance standard pension benefits.

4.8

4.9

4.10

When should Special Severance Payments be paid?
The guidance recognises that there may be exceptional circumstances
where the existing statutory or contractual entitlements, or both, are
insufficient to facilitate an exit or to offer sufficient compensation for loss of
employment or office.
The guidance also states that councils may also consider a Special
Severance Payment in order to settle disputes, where it can be properly
demonstrated that other routes have been thoroughly explored and
excluded. After receiving appropriate professional advice, it may then
possibly be concluded that a special severance payment is the most
suitable option and prudent use of public money.
What should the process be for authorising Special Severance
Payments?
Local authorities must comply with the duty of Best Value. In considering
whether it is appropriate to make a Special Severance Payment, local
authorities therefore need to consider whether such a payment would be a

Page 11

3

proper use of public money. The draft guidance explains that councils
should be able to demonstrate their economic rationale behind proposed
Special Severance Payments including consideration of:
• whether there is any feasible possibility of exiting the individual at a
lower cost. Only where there is no such possibility should a Special
Severance Payment be considered;
• how the exit payment will be perceived by the public and whether it is
in line with the duty to manage taxpayers money appropriately;
• what alternative use could be made of that expenditure. All Special
Severance Payments necessarily reduce the funds that would
otherwise be available to deliver important public services;
• the setting of any potential precedent (e.g. where a Special
Severance Payment is made to certain employees and not others);
 evidence for additionality, i.e. that those offered Special Severance
Payments would not have, under any circumstances, been willing to
leave with their statutory and contractual benefits alone.
4.11

The guidance also states that councils should seek legal advice on the
prospects of successfully defending an employment tribunal claim, if an
employee were to take a legal route to appeal any grounds of their
employment being terminated. The chance of success and the costs likely
to be incurred should be noted and weighed up against the costs of making
a Special Severance Payments. The Council should also
 ensure that these payments are not used to avoid management
action, disciplinary processes, unwelcome publicity or avoidance of
embarrassment;
 consider aligning with private sector practice, where payments are
typically less generous. This is important given the added duty in the
public sector to prudently manage taxpayers’ money; and
 manage conflicts of interest to ensure that individuals who are the
subject of complaints play absolutely no role in deciding whether
cases should be settled from public funds.

4.12

The guidance explains that those approving a Special Severance Payment
related to a settlement agreement should be provided with appropriate
evidence that attempts were made to resolve disputes before they
escalated to a legal claim. They should also bear in mind that even if the
cost of defeating an apparently frivolous or vexatious claims will exceed the
likely cost of that settlement to the employer, it may still be desirable to take
the case to formal proceedings. This is because winning such cases will
discourage future frivolous or vexatious claims and demonstrate that the
council does not reward such claims.

4.15

Who should approve any Special Severance Payment & what should
the process at Harrogate Council be?
The Government states in the draft guidance that it expects that any Special
Severance payments should be personally approved and signed off by the
Chief Executive Officer), with a clear record of the Leader’s approval and
that of any others who have signed off the payment. The guidance also
says that as part of their duties, an authority’s s151 Officer, and where
appropriate, the Monitoring Officer, should take a close interest in and be
able to justify any special severance payments that are made by that
authority and in particular any payments made that are not consistent with

Page 12

4

the content of this guidance. Clearly, however, if any of the senior officers
mentioned here are to be the recipient of the payment, they should not play
any part in the decision-making process.
4.16

In order to adopt the approach referenced in the guidance and provide the
appropriate written evidence, legal and HR advice to support any decision
on a Special Severance Payment it is proposed that a pro forma report be
completed with HR and legal input. The proposed pro forma is at Appendix
2 and adopts the format of the pro forma for HM Treasury Approval for
Special Severance Payments.

4.17

The only exception to the completion of a pro forma report in advance of an
agreement being reached that is proposed is that for an urgent case such
as agreeing a settlement payment during an employment tribunal case or
settling on the court steps where the ability to agree the best possible
resolution for the Council can be time dependent. In these cases it is
proposed that the Head of Legal & Governance continues to have the
delegated authority to settle proceedings in the best interests of the Council
and that the pro forma report be prepared as soon as reasonably
practicable after the event and be provided to the Chief Executive Officer
and Leader with an explanation as to why urgent agreement was required.

4.18

In so far as a limit on these officer’s authority then the Localism Act 2011
requires the Council to prepare a pay policy statement for each financial
year. Section 40 of the Act includes provision for the Secretary of State to
issue guidance on the content and application of senior pay statements.
The Council must have regard to this guidance in the exercise of its
functions under the pay accountability provisions. The guidance makes
clear that full council should be given the opportunity to vote before large
salary packages offered in respect of a new appointment and that the
Secretary of State considers that £100,000 is the right level for that
threshold to be set. The guidance also provides that full council should have
the opportunity to vote before large severance packages beyond a
particular threshold are approved for staff leaving the organisation. As with
salaries on appointment, the Secretary of State considers that £100,000 is
the right level for that threshold to be set.

4.19

It is therefore proposed that the constitution be amended to include
delegation to the Chief Executive Officer with the approval of the Leader
and in consultation with the s151 officer, Monitoring Officer and a senior HR
officer to approve any Special Severance Payment below £100,000 upon
receipt of the completed report.

4.19

4.20

Annual Reporting
In accordance with schedule 1 of the Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015
the Council discloses in its annual accounts the remuneration of senior
employees including details of any severance payments.
It is proposed that at the same time that the annual accounts are presented
that the Audit & Governance Committee be provided with the information as
to any Special Severance Payment made during the financial year
regardless of the seniority of employee. All reporting should be anonymised
and comply with data protection law.

Page 13

5

5.0

REQUIRED ASSESSMENTS AND IMPLICATIONS

5.1

The following were considered: Financial Implications; Human Resources
Implications; Legal Implications; ICT Implications; Strategic Property/Asset
Management Considerations; Risk Assessment; Equality and Diversity (the
Public Sector Equality Duty and impact upon people with protected
characteristics). If applicable, the outcomes of any consultations,
assessments, considerations and implications considered necessary during
preparation of this report are detailed below.

5.2

HR support the report and agree that appropriate evidence, legal and HR
advice should be provided to support any decision on a Special Severance
Payment and that the proposed pro forma report is completed with both HR
and legal advice/input

OFFICER CONTACT: Please contact (Jennifer Norton, Head of Legal &
Governance), if you require any further information on the contents of this report.
The officer can be contacted at (Legal & Governance, PO Bo 787, Harrogate,
HG1 9RW ) 01423-500 600 or by e-mail – Jennifer.norton@harrogate.gov.uk

Page 14

6

Statutory guidance on the making and disclosure of
Special Severance Payments by local authorities
Introduction
Most public sector workers enjoy statutory and contractual redundancy terms that are
significantly better than the minimum statutory redundancy entitlement and are often higher
than the value of redundancy payments made in the private sector. The Government is of
the view that paying additional, discretionary sums on top of these entitlements (“special
severance payments”) do not usually provide good value for money or offer fairness to the
taxpayers who fund them and so, should only be considered in exceptional cases.
This guidance forms part of the best value regime. The best value duty, as set out in section
3 of the Local Government Act 1999 (“the 1999 Act”), provides that "A best value authority
must make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness”. The best value duty is relevant to local authority duties to deliver a balanced
budget (Part 1 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992), provide statutory services
(including adult social care and children’s services) and secure value for money in spending
decisions. This will include decisions to make Special Severance Payments.
Authorities subject to the best value duty (termed “best value authorities”) are defined in
section 1 of the 1999 Act. A list of these bodies can be found on page 6 of this guidance.
This guidance also sets out the Government’s position on the use of Special Severance
Payments made by local authorities.
The purpose of this guidance is to:
•
•
•
•

Set out the Government’s view that Special Severance Payments do not usually
represent value for money and should only be considered in truly exceptional
circumstances
Set out the criteria employers should consider in the exceptional circumstances in
which it may be appropriate to make a Special Severance Payment
Give examples of the truly exceptional circumstances in which Special Severance
Payments may be appropriate
Clarify the disclosure and reporting requirements for Special Severance Payments.

Redundancy payments can be an important mechanism to allow employers to reform and
react to new circumstances in the workplace, but employers have a responsibility to ensure
that Special Severance Payments are only made when there is a clear, evidenced
justification for doing so. They should also ensure that all relevant internal policies and
procedures have been followed and all alternative actions have been fully explored and
documented.
In the exceptional circumstances where it is decided that a Special Severance Payment
should be paid, it is the responsibility of both individual employers and sponsoring
departments to ensure their Special Severance Payments arrangements are fair,
proportionate, lawful and provide value for money for the taxpayer.

Page 15

1

Chapter 1 – What is a special severance payment?
In the context of this guidance, Special Severance Payments are payments made to
employees, officeholders, workers, contractors, and others outside of statutory, contractual
or other requirements when leaving employment in public service. Employers may
sometimes consider making such a payment in situations where the individual concerned
resigns, is dismissed, or agrees a termination of contract. Which types of payments are
Special Severance Payments will vary according to an employees’ particular circumstances,
and therefore the examples below are illustrative only.
It is established case-law1 that such payments, where in accordance with legislation, may
only be made where there is a convincing case that they are in the interests of taxpayers.
Local authorities may not be generous at the expense of taxpayers and must genuinely
consider payments to be in the public interest. In taking decisions elected members must
make all proper enquiries and consider all available material that can help in coming to a
decision.
The following types of payments are likely to constitute Special Severance Payments:
a) Any payments reached under a settlement agreement between the employer
and employee to discontinue legal proceedings without admission of fault;
b) The value of any employee benefits or allowances which are allowed to
continue beyond the employee’s agreed exit date;
c) Write-offs of any outstanding loans;
d) Any paid special leave, such as gardening leave;
e) Any honorarium payments or gifts;
f) Any hardship payments;
g) Any payments to employees for retraining related to their termination of
employment
The following types of payments may constitute Special Severance Payments, depending on
the terms of the individual’s contract, relevant statutory provisions, any non-statutory
applicable schemes and other relevant terms and conditions:
a) Pay or compensation in lieu of notice (depending on the contractual basis for
its payment);
b) Pension strain payments arising from employer discretions to enhance
standard pension benefits;
The following do not constitute Special Severance Payments:
a) Statutory redundancy payments;

1

In Re Hurle-Hobbs's Decision (1944) 1 All E.R. 249

Page 16

2

b) Contractual redundancy payments, whether applicable to voluntary or
compulsory redundancy, and whether agreed by collective agreement or
otherwise
c) Redundancy payments made in line with the requirements of the Local
Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary
Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006;
d) Payment for untaken annual leave;
e) Payments ordered by a court or tribunal or agreed as part of a judicial or nonjudicial mediation;
f)

Payments made to compensate for ill-health, injury or death of the worker.

Chapter 2 - Considerations for councils on potential Special
Severance Payments
This Chapter provides guidance on relevant considerations for English local authorities in
relation to making Special Severance Payments.
Local authorities must comply with the duty of Best Value explained in the introduction. In
considering whether it is appropriate to make a Special Severance Payment, the
Government expects local authorities to consider whether such a payment would be a
proper use of public money.
Economy
Councils should be able to demonstrate their economic rationale behind proposed Special
Severance Payments including consideration of:
•
•
•
•
•

whether there is any feasible possibility of exiting the individual at a lower
cost. Only where there is no such possibility should a Special Severance
Payment be considered;
how the exit payment will be perceived by the public and whether it is in line
with the duty to manage taxpayers money appropriately;
what alternative use could be made of that expenditure. All Special
Severance Payments necessarily reduce the funds that would otherwise be
available to deliver important public services;
the setting of any potential precedent (e.g. where a Special Severance
Payment is made to certain employees and not others);
evidence for additionality, i.e. that those offered Special Severance Payments
would not have, under any circumstances, been willing to leave with their
statutory and contractual benefits alone.

Efficiency and effectiveness
In considering the impact of Special Severance Payments on efficiency and effectiveness,
local authorities should:

Page 17

3

•

•
•
•

Seek legal advice on the prospects of successfully defending an employment tribunal
claim, if an employee were to take a legal route to appeal any grounds of their
employment being terminated. The chance of success and the costs likely to be
incurred should be noted and weighed up against the costs of making a Special
Severance Payments;
Ensure that these payments are not used to avoid management action, disciplinary
processes, unwelcome publicity or avoidance of embarrassment;
Consider aligning with private sector practice, where payments are typically less
generous. This is important given the added duty in the public sector to prudently
manage taxpayers’ money;
Manage conflicts of interest to ensure that individuals who are the subject of
complaints play absolutely no role in deciding whether cases should be settled from
public funds.

Chapter 3 - Exceptional circumstances in which it may be
appropriate to consider making Special Severance Payments
There may be exceptional circumstances where the existing statutory or contractual
entitlements, or both, are insufficient to facilitate an exit or to offer sufficient compensation
for loss of employment or office. This can apply to office holders as well as staff. These
circumstances, which we expect to be truly exceptional and provide value for money, may be
taken into account by local authorities in deciding whether or not to make a Special
Severance Payment.
Authorities may consider a Special Severance Payment in order to set aside what would
otherwise be a reduction in entitlement caused by a break in continuity of service (e.g. where
a member of staff has taken a break in service to accompany their spouse on military service
overseas).
Authorities may also consider a Special Severance Payment in order to settle disputes,
where it can be properly demonstrated that other routes have been thoroughly explored and
excluded. After receiving appropriate professional advice, it may then possibly be concluded
that a special severance payment is the most suitable option and prudent use of public
money.
Those approving a Special Severance Payment related to a settlement agreement should be
provided with appropriate evidence that attempts were made to resolve disputes before they
escalated to a legal claim. They should also bear in mind that even if the cost of defeating an
apparently frivolous or vexatious claims will exceed the likely cost of that settlement to the
employer, it may still be desirable to take the case to formal proceedings. This is because
winning such cases will discourage future frivolous or vexatious claims and demonstrate that
the council does not reward such claims.

Chapter 4 - Accountability and disclosure
Accountability

Page 18

4

The Government expects that any Special Severance payments should be personally
approved and signed off by the Chief Executive Officer (CEX), with a clear record of the
Leader’s approval and that of any others who have signed off the payment.
A system of legal duties also requires councillors to spend public money with regularity and
propriety. Under section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, “every local authority shall
make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and shall secure
that one of their officers [the section 151 officer or Chief Finance Officer] has responsibility
for the administration of those affairs”. The section 151 officer has an important role in
holding councils to account and has duties to alert councillors and the auditor in the case of
unlawful expenditure.
This role is complemented and reinforced by authorities’ duty under section 5 of the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989 to appoint a monitoring officer, who must report to the
council when any proposal, decision or omission is likely to lead to contravention of any
enactment, rule of law or statutory code.
As part of their duties, an authority’s s151 Officer, and where appropriate, the Monitoring
Officer, should take a close interest in and be able to justify any special severance payments
that are made by that authority and in particular any payments made that are not consistent
with the content of this guidance.

Disclosure
Clear and transparent reporting on exit payments is essential to make available better data
on the number and level of exit payments made in local government. The availability of data
on exit payments in the public domain by local authorities enables local accountability as
well as effective management of public money and public confidence. In 2015, the Local
Government Transparency Code was issued to increase democratic accountability through
open access to information.2
MHCLG have initiated a new annual collection of data on exit payments (initially collecting
data from 2014 – 2021) and the results will be published into official statistics and made
available on the gov.uk website, subject to any necessary anonymisation or redaction to
comply with data protection law. This data will help others to assess the number and level of
exit payments made in local government.
Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the council to produce and publish a pay policy
statement, which must include the authority’s policies on termination payments. Further
information on what the Localism Act 2011 requires can be found in existing guidance.3
In addition, Regulation 60 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013
requires local authorities to prepare a statement of its policy in relation to the exercise of the
discretion to enhance pension benefits under Regulations 16(2)(e) and 16(4)(d) (funding of

2

Local Government Transparency Code 2015,
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/408386/
150227_PUBLICATION_Final_LGTC_2015.pdf
3
Openness and accountability in Local Pay: Guidance under Section 40 of the Localism Act 2011
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/85886/Fi
nal_Supplementary_Pay_Accountability_Guidance_20_Feb.pdf

Page 19

5

additional pension), Regulation 30(6) (flexible retirement), Regulation 30(8) (waiving of
actuarial reduction); and Regulations 31 (award of additional pension)
As well as following existing guidance4 on reporting exit payments councils should also
disclose in their annual reports all redundancy payments, pension fund strain costs and
other special severance payments made in consequence of termination of employment or
loss of office (but excluding payments on death or ill-health retirement). All reporting should
be anonymised and comply with data protection law.

List of bodies this guidance applies to
•

an English local authority, including
o a county council in England, a district council or a London borough council
o the Council of the Isles of Scilly;
o the Common Council of the City of London in its capacity as a local authority;
o the Greater London Authority so far as it exercises its functions through the
Mayor.

•
•
•
•

a National Park authority [for a National Park in England]
the Broads Authority
the Common Council of the City of London in its capacity as a police authority;
a fire and rescue authority constituted by a scheme under section 2 of the Fire and
Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 4 of that Act applies, and a
[metropolitan county fire and rescue authority in England]
the London Fire Commissioner
an authority established under section 10 of the Local Government Act 1985 (waste
disposal authorities);
an Integrated Transport Authority for an integrated transport area in England;
an economic prosperity board established under section 88 of the Local Democracy,
Economic Development and Construction Act 2009;
a combined authority established under section 103 of that Act;
a sub-national transport body established under section 102E of the Local Transport
Act 2008;
Transport for London

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

4

CIPFA, Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21

Page 20

6

Strictly Private and Confidential
Special Severance Payment

This template is to be used for all special severance cases submitted for approval.
Special Severance Business Case
Name of Requesting Department
Date case is submitted
Date decision is needed and why
Circumstances of the Case
Overview of the Case

Terms of employment

Breakdown of proposed exit payment

Proposed ways of proceeding

Financial Considerations
The value for money consideration underlying the proposed payment

[Include here consideration of:

Page 21

•
whether there is any feasible possibility of exiting the individual at a lower
cost. Only where there is no such possibility should a Special Severance Payment
be considered;
•
how the exit payment will be perceived by the public and whether it is in line
with the duty to manage taxpayers money appropriately;
•
what alternative use could be made of that expenditure. All Special
Severance Payments necessarily reduce the funds that would otherwise be
available to deliver important public services;
•
the setting of any potential precedent (e.g. where a Special Severance
Payment is made to certain employees and not others);
•
evidence for additionality, i.e. that those offered Special Severance
Payments would not have, under any circumstances, been willing to leave with
their statutory and contractual benefits alone.]

Non- Financial Considerations
Performance management

Management procedures

Repercussive risk
Lessons learnt from this case

Wider impact and potential precedents

Any other useful information

Page 22

2 July 2021

Dear Sir/Madam,
Consultation on New Best Value Statutory Guidance: Special Severance
Payments
The 2015 Government manifesto committed to ending six-figure exit payments in the
public sector for the best paid staff. As part of taking this commitment forward, we
are proposing to issue the enclosed draft statutory guidance for local authorities in
England.
The Best Value duty is set out in section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 and
this statutory guidance would form part of the existing Best Value regime. The
intention of the guidance is to limit the use local authorities make of Special
Severance Payments. These are defined in the guidance as payments made to
employees, officeholders, workers, contractors, and others outside of statutory,
contractual or other requirements when leaving employment in public service.
Specifically, this draft guidance sets out the Government’s view of:
•
•
•

the criteria local government employers should consider before making a
Special Severance Payment;
the kinds of truly exceptional circumstances in which Special Severance
Payments may be appropriate;
the disclosure and reporting requirements for Special Severance Payments.

In line with the requirements at section 26(2)(c) of the Local Government Act 1999,
we are consulting the authorities and others likely to be affected by this draft
guidance. The guidance will apply to all local authorities in England and a full list of
bodies affected is included in the draft guidance.
The consultation will begin from the date of this letter and close on 13 August (in six
weeks’ time). We are in particular asking for responses from those bodies listed at
Annex A, but will of course consider responses from any other interested parties. All
responses should be sent to lgpensions@communities.gov.uk, and marked for the
attention of Jeremy Hughes.

Page 23

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any questions.
Kind regards,

Teresa Clay
Local Government Finance Stewardship

Page 24

Annex A – List of bodies directly consulted
The Local Government Pension Scheme Advisory Board
The LGPS Technical Working Group
The Government Actuary’s Department
The Local Government Association
The Association of Local Authority Chief Executives
The GMB Union
UNISON
Unite the Union
Barnet Waddingham LLP
Aon Hewitt Ltd
Mercer Limited
Hymans Robertson LLP
CIPFA
The Society of District Council Treasurers
The Association of Local Authority Treasurers
The Society of Municipal Treasurers
The Society of London Treasurers
The Society of County Treasurers
The Society of Unitary Treasurers
English local authorities (including county councils, district councils or London
borough councils
The Council of the Isles of Scilly;
The Common Council of the City of London
The Greater London Authority so far as it exercises its functions through the Mayor.
A National Park authority in England
The Broads Authority
A fire and rescue authority constituted by a scheme under section 2 of the Fire and
Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 4 of that Act applies, and a
metropolitan county fire and rescue authority in England
The London Fire Commissioner

Page 25

An authority established under section 10 of the Local Government Act 1985 (waste
disposal authorities)
An Integrated Transport Authority for an integrated transport area in England
A combined authority established under section 103 of the Local Government,
Economic Development and Construction Act 2009
A sub-national transport body established under section 102E of the Local Transport
Act 2008
Transport for London

Page 26

Agenda Item 7

REPORT TO:

General Purposes Committee

DATE:

18 November 2021

SERVICE AREA:

Legal and Governance

REPORTING OFFICER:

Head of Legal and Governance
(Charles Casey – Democratic Services Officer)

SUBJECT:

Draft Schedule Of Meetings – May 2022 To March
2023

WARD/S AFFECTED:

None

FORWARD PLAN REF:

N/A

1.0

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

To agree the draft schedule of meetings from May 2022 to March 2023,
attached as Appendix A to the report.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION

2.1

That the draft schedule of meetings 2022/23, as detailed as Appendix A, be
approved.

2.2

That the amendment to the 2021/22 schedule, as described in paragraph
5.7, be approved.

3.0

RECOMMENDED REASON FOR DECISION

3.1

To agree the schedule of Council meetings for 2022/23

3.2

To align the outlined Cabinet meetings with the Management Board
schedule for 2022.

4.0

ALTERNATIVE OPTION CONSIDERED AND RECOMMENDED FOR
REJECTION

4.1

None

5.0

THE REPORT

Page 27

5.1

The draft follows similar scheduling to previous years with at least one
meeting of each of the Council’s Committees being scheduled per cycle.
Some cycles may include more than one such meeting based on previous
experience of expected need such as the Overview and Scrutiny
Commission.

5.2

Chief Officers were consulted on the draft during October 2021. The
Political Group Leaders were also consulted to identify potential clashes
between proposed dates as set out and other significant fixtures, i.e political
party conferences.

5.3

Scheduled County Council meetings have been taken into account.

5.4

There have been some changes to the schedule which are detailed below:

5.5

In accordance with the arrangements for Local Government Reorganisation
the new authority for North Yorkshire is due to be begin operating on 1 April
2023. There is no need for Harrogate Borough Council to set a budget for
2022/23 or decide on the Council tax for the upcoming year, both of these
will be considered as part of the implementation process for the new
authority for North Yorkshire.

5.6

As there is no need for the Council to set a budget for 2022/23 there is no
need for budget meetings to be held in the early part for 2023 and the
schedule reflects this change. The schedule of meetings for 2022/23 also
only runs until March 2023 as HBC will be dissolved on 31 March 2021. It is
difficult to anticipate at this stage what meetings will be required in the final
months of the Council and amendments may be required to the schedule
nearer the time. Two meetings of Council have been scheduled for March
2023, one of which will be used for civic matters such as the appointment of
Honorary Aldermen.

5.7

Please note that a request has been received to make the following
changes to the 2021/22 meeting schedule. It has been requested that the
last four Cabinet meetings of 2022 are pushed back a week so they align
with the agreed Management Board schedule for 2022, the Leader has
been consulted and agrees to the proposals; the proposed changes are
listed below:
Existing Dates
Wednesday 23 February 2022
Wednesday 23 March 2022
Wednesday 20 April 2022
Wednesday 18 May 2022

Page 28

Proposed Dates
Tuesday 1 March 2022
Wednesday 30 March 2022
Wednesday 27 April 2022
Wednesday 25 May 2022

6.0

REQUIRED ASSESSMENTS AND IMPLICATIONS

6.1

The following were considered: Financial Implications; Human Resources
Implications; Legal Implications; ICT Implications; Strategic Property/Asset
Management Considerations; Risk Assessment; Equality and Diversity (the
Public Sector Equality Duty and impact upon people with protected
characteristics). If applicable, the outcomes of any consultations,
assessments, considerations and implications considered necessary during
preparation of this report are detailed below.

7.0

CONCLUSIONS

7.1

That the draft meeting schedule for 2022/23, as detailed in Appendix A, be
approved.

Background Papers – None
OFFICER CONTACT: Please contact Charles Casey, Democratic Services
Officer, if you require any further information on the contents of this report. The
officer can be contacted by telephone on (01423) 500600 or by e-mail at
democraticservices@harrogate.gov.uk

Page 29

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

May 2022 to May 2023 Meeting Schedule
Tuesday

10 May 2022

Planning Committee

Wednesday

25 May

Cabinet

Monday

23 May

Annual Meeting

Tuesday

31 May

Planning Committee

Thursday

2 June

Spring Bank Holiday

Friday

3 June

Platinum Jubilee Bank Holiday

Monday

6 June

Overview and Scrutiny

Wednesday

8 June

Licensing Committee

Thursday

9 June

Human Resources

Thursday

16 June

General Purposes

Monday

20 June

Audit and Governance Committee

Tuesday

21 June

Planning Committee

Wednesday

22 June

Cabinet

Monday

4 July

Overview and Scrutiny Commission

Wednesday

6 July

Council

Tuesday

12 July

Planning Committee (Great Yorkshire Show
Week)

Wednesday

20 July

Cabinet

Monday

25 July

Audit and Governance Committee

Tuesday

2 August

Planning Committee

Wednesday

3 August

Human Resources Committee

Monday

15 August

Overview and Scrutiny Commission

Wednesday

17 August

Cabinet

Tuesday

23 August

Planning Committee

Monday

5 September

Overview and Scrutiny Commission

Tuesday

6 September

Licensing Committee

Monday

12 September

Audit and Governance

Tuesday

13 September

Planning Committee

Wednesday

14 September

Cabinet

Page 31

Appendix A

Thursday

15 September

General Purposes Committee

Monday

26 September

Overview and Scrutiny Commission

Tuesday

4 October

Planning Committee

Wednesday

5 October

Council

Wednesday

12 October

Cabinet

Monday

17 October

Overview and Scrutiny Commission

Wednesday

19 October

Human Resources Committee

Tuesday

25 October

Planning Committee

Monday

7 November

Overview and Scrutiny Commission

Wednesday

9 November

Cabinet

Tuesday

15 November

Planning Committee

Wednesday

16 November

Licensing Committee

Monday

21 November

Audit and Governance Committee

Thursday

24 November

General Purposes Committee

Monday

5 December

Overview and Scrutiny Commission

Tuesday

6 December

Planning Committee

Tuesday

7 December

Cabinet

Wednesday

14 December

Council

Wednesday

4 January 2023

Cabinet

Thursday

5 January

Planning Committee

Monday

9 January

Audit and Governance Committee

Monday

16 January

Overview and Scrutiny Commission

Wednesday

18 January

Licensing Committee

Thursday

19 January

Human Resources Committee

Tuesday

24 January

Planning Committee

Thursday

26 January

General Purposes Committee

Monday

30 January

Overview and Scrutiny Commission

Wednesday

1 February

Cabinet

Tuesday

14 February

Planning Committee

Wednesday

22 February

Council

Page 32

Appendix A

Monday

27 February

Overview and Scrutiny Commission

Wednesday

1 March

Cabinet

Tuesday

7 March

Planning Committee

Wednesday

15 March

Licensing

Thursday

16 March

General Purposes

Monday

20 March

Audit

Wednesday

22 March

Possible Extraordinary Council

Thursday

23 March

Human Resources

Monday

27 March

Overview and Scrutiny

Tuesday

28 March

Planning

Wednesday

29 March

Possible Council

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

